II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the request of the City of Weirton,² the fire commission at its' hearings on October 4, 2002 and December 13, 2002, considered withdrawing the recognition of the appellants as fire departments. (Identification of Record, Exhibit 1, Transcript of the meeting of the West Virginia State Fire Commission dated October 4, 2002, page 5). At the first hearing on October 4, 2002, several of the parties involved and other interested parties were heard by the commission. First, Mayor Harris from the City of Weirton³, indicated that he wanted

²The City of Weirton had just been through litigation with the petitioners where Judge Mazzone ruled that they could create a combined (paid and volunteer) department, but that there was no evidence that they could dissolve the petitioner companies under the circumstances presented. Thus, the City was stuck in a situation where the petitioners still existed and they did not have grounds to dissolve them and, therefore, were not entitled to any of their equipment, which these petitioners believe was the motive behind the City's actions in first place. Thus, the City being unable to do what they wanted to do, requested that the fire commission step in and intervene and withdraw the departments' recognition in the hopes that would allow them to order dissolution of the companies and reach their ultimate objective. (See, Brief in Support of Petitioners' Appeal, Exhibit B).

³Mayor Harris was the Mayor under the previous administration and the City of Weirton has since then undergone a complete change in administration. The new administration is working with petitioners to facilitate an agreement by which they can again work together as they had for years in the past. The lack of recognition of Petitioner departments now poses a road block to reaching this agreement.

the two appellant fire departments to be "decertified" so that the City would be allowed to dissolve them in order to obtain their equipment. (*Id.*, pages 5-6). (Emphasis added). Essentially, Mayor Harris argued that because the City of Weirton Fire Department had been reorganized and the appellants did not choose to join the reorganized department, that their recognition should be pulled and they should be dissolved. (*Id.*, page 6). A representative for the appellants also spoke and indicated there was no basis to pull the recognition of the companies for the following reasons. First, evidence was provided by letter to the commission prior to the meeting indicating that both petitioner companies met the 13 requirements for fire commission approval/recognition. (*Id.*, pages 23-24; see also Brief in Support of Petitioners' Appeal, Exhibit A). Additionally, appellants provided information regarding Judge Mazzone's earlier decision which indicated that there was no evidence that the companies should be dissolved.⁴

After hearing from other interested parties, the State Fire Marshall, Sterling Lewis, gave his recommendation to the State Fire Commission. Mr. Lewis specifically stated as follows:

After listening to all parties involved, the issue has come to one (1) fact, Judge Mazzone has ruled that the resolution of 5/13/02, which created a single combination fire department is valid. That is the one (1) issue that this commission can deal with on a legal basis. This will establish that the City has full

⁴On page 15 of Judge's Mazzone's decision and order, he indicated as follows "there is no evidence that has been presented to the court that any of the necessary predicates for the dissolution of the plaintiff fire departments exist. There are very specific criteria that have to be met under the West Virginia Statutes in order for a company to be dissolved." (Brief in Support of Petitioners' Appeal, Exhibit B, p. 15).

authority over the fire service protection for its City and that the volunteer departments are part of that City, to be controlled by the city council and mayor.

One (1) of the three (3) volunteer departments decided to be part of the combination department, the other two (2) decided not to be part of the new department.

To allow these two (2) departments to continue to answer fire calls, they must apply for a new fire department status in another area.

First, the recognition, not dissolving, but recognition of these three (3) fire departments must be renewed by the fire commission. To allow new fire department applications to be submitted, all emergency vehicle permits must be returned to the State Fire Marshall's office and they will not receive state funding until they are relocated in a new and improved area. With that, it is my recommendation of the Fire Marshall's office, that the State Fire Commission withdraw recognition of Weirton Company's one (1) two (2) and three (3).

(Id., pages 87-88). Subsequently, Commissioner Oldaker made a motion that companies number one (1) and three (3), appellants here, be given until the December 13, 2002 fire commission meeting to complete all phases of relocation including, but not limited to, establishment of a new area in which to fight fires. Part of the motion indicated that no further extensions would be granted. (Id., pages 88-89). This motion was passed on a vote of six in favor and four against. (Id., page 89). Finally, a motion was made and a vote taken to withdraw the recognition of Company No. 2 who is the company that joined the City's combination department and is not involved in this matter. (Id., page 90).

Appellants then attempted to comply with the commission's request to find a new running zone.⁵ In that regard, they worked with the Hancock County commissioners who desired to work with the appellants to have them provide service to the citizens of Hancock County. A letter was submitted to the fire commission the week before the December 13, 2002 meeting outlining the agreement with Hancock County including a proposed running zone. (See, Brief in Support of Petitioners' Appeal, Exhibit D).

At the meeting held before the fire commission on December 13, 2002, arguments were presented by all parties involved including the Hancock County Commissioners in support of the new plan proposed by the appellants. However, the State Fire Commission felt that the appellants did not meet the deadline to the extent that the new proposed running zone was not yet approved through the State Fire Marshall's office. (Identification of Record #2, Transcript of the Fire Commission Meeting dated December 13, 2002). It was not disclosed to the appellants that Fire Commission approval was needed prior to the hearing. Finally, a motion was made to withdraw the recognition of the appellants, WHVFD and Company No. 1. The motion was seconded and carried without opposition. (Id.). The commission went on to indicate that the appellants could apply for a new fire department approval, however, indicated that they would not consider a new application until all of the litigation issues had been resolved. (Id.). After the meeting on December 13, 2002, each

⁵It was unclear to appellants why they were required to provide a running zone, particularly in light of the fact that there are no approved maps for any of the departments in this area and because it is not on the fire commission's own list of requirements for fire commission approval or recognition. Nonetheless, appellants had no choice but to attempt to comply with the commission's request at that time.

of the appellants a letter from the chairman of the State Fire Commission indicating as follows:

This is to formally and officially notify you and the respected members of your organization that, as a result of the City of Weirton's decision to reorganize fire protection services in the City of Weirton and your organization's decision not to affiliate with the new combination department, the State Fire Commission in their meeting of December 13, 2002, has withdrawn their recognition of your organization as a fire department for operational purposes within the state of West Virginia effective 12:00 noon, December 13, 2002.

As a result of this action, your department and its respective officers no longer have those authorities as granted in the West Virginia Code, Chapter 29, Article 3A, "authority of local fire departments," as well as duties, authority, responsibilities or privileges that may be found elsewhere in the state code.

Identification of Record, #4 and 6). The letters also required the appellants to return their Emergency Vehicle Permits. (Id.).

The appeal below followed. The Petition for Appeal filed before Judge Recht alleged that the State Fire Commission's decision of December 13, 2002 prejudiced the substantial rights of the appellants and is contrary to law and the substantial evidence in the matter. Following briefing and hearings on the matter, Judge Recht ultimately issued a written order which was entered in the civil docket on September 14, 2004. In the order, Judge Recht held that the State Fire Commission withdrew its recognition of the appellants' respective organizations as fire departments having powers granted in Article

3A, Chapter 29, of the West Virginia Code.⁶ (See Judge Recht's September 14, 2004 order). Judge Recht additionally found that the basis for the fire commission's decision to withdraw this recognition was that the appellants had no fixed territory in which they could exercise the powers and authority provided under Article 3A, Chapter 29 of the West Virginia Code. (Id.). The court did note that the West Virginia Code does not specifically provide and the State Fire Commission has not established by rule that the absence of a fixed territory may be a basis for withdrawal of recognition. (Id.). Nevertheless, the court found that it was "inherent and implicit within the provisions of Article 3A, Chapter 29, that the powers provided therein could only be exercised by one, local authority within the territorial jurisdiction." (Id.). Thus, he found that the lack of a fixed territory in which to exercise the powers in Article 3A, Chapter 29 was a valid and logical basis for withdrawal of recognition of said departments. (Id.) Judge Recht's decision, however, went one step further to find that the withdrawal of recognition on this basis only affects the exercise of those powers in Article 3A, Chapter 29 and does not otherwise prevent such departments from engaging in lawful firefighting activities. (Id.) Judge Recht held that "therefore, this court finds the Petitioner departments to be certified by virtue of judicial fiat for all purposes other than exercise of the powers provided in Article 3A, Chapter 29 of the West Virginia Code." (Id.) Because Judge Recht found the appellants could otherwise fight fires, Judge

⁶Section 29-3A-1 of the West Virginia Code outlines a list of authorities which local fire departments will have to use at the scene of a fire. Without citing the entire section in this footnote, it basically allows such authorized departments to enter structures and buildings, to block traffic on public streets and perform other such activities necessary in order to fight fires. The other sections in this article deal with commands at the fire scene, conducting investigations and hindering or obstructing the firefighters or emergency equipment. See, W.Va. Code 29-3A-1, et seq.

Recht also found it to be arbitrary and capricious for the State Fire Commission to have required appellants to return their emergency vehicle permits. (Id.) Finally, the court ordered that the State Fire Commission provide the appellants with the means to be in a position to fight fires when requested by a certified department. (Id.)

Since Judge Recht's order was issued, the appellants, unfortunately, have been unable to return to their usual firefighting activities, particularly with the City of Weirton, because of the City's concerns that they may be exposed to liability because these departments do not have the authorities granted in Chapter 29, Article 3A. Specifically, one could foresee a situation where one of the appellant departments is called to a fire scene and is the first to arrive but is unable to enter the premises and fight fires. If they have to stand by and watch the fire burn and someone is injured or other damages ensue, it poses an extreme liability situation for both these departments and the department who dispatched them to the scene. For the reasons outlined more fully below, Appellants, therefore, believe that Judge Recht erred in his decision below and is seeking that this Honorable Court reverse Judge Recht's decision and reinstate the recognition of the appellant departments as lawfully recognized and/or certified fire departments.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. The circuit court erred in holding that the State Fire Commission had the authority to withdraw recognition of appellant fire departments.

B. Even if the State Fire Commission had the authority to withdraw appellants' recognition, the court below erred in holding that the appellants' lack of a fixed territory in which to fight fires, was an appropriate basis for such withdraw.

IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE STATE FIRE COMMISSION HAD THE AUTHORITY TO WITHDRAW THE RECOGNITION OF APPELLANT COMPANIES.

The court below erred in holding that the State Fire Commission had the authority to withdraw the recognition of the appellant fire departments.

The State Fire Commission was legislatively created in 1976 when the Fire Prevention and Control Act (hereinafter "the Act") was enacted by the state legislature. See, W.Va. Code §29-3-1, et seq. The Act itself provides insight into the legislature's intent behind the creation of the Act and the Fire Commission. Specifically, section 29-3-2 provides as follows:

The legislature hereby finds and declares that:

(a) A significant part of the population of this state needs improved fire prevention and control;

(b) The establishment and maintenance of a coordination program for fire prevention and control for the entire state is necessary to promulgate the safety and well-being of the citizens and residents of this state;

(c) Adequate fire prevention and control are not likely to become a reality unless certain administrative functions and procedures are enacted by law; and

(d) Fire prevention and control are a public purpose and a responsibility of government for which public money may be spent.

W.Va. Code § 29-3-2. Moreover, the Act provides specific guidance with respect to the powers, duties and authorities granted to the commission. W.Va. Code §29-3-9. Tellingly, nothing in the code provides that the Commission has the authority to randomly remove the recognition of an already recognized department. Indeed, the act, by its own language, seems to have at its center the goal of making the fire departments in the state better equipped to fight fires through a centralized system of training and minimum standards necessary to fight fires.

To this end, the Act gives the State Fire Commission ". . .the power to promulgate, amend and repeal regulations for safeguarding of life and property from the hazards of fire and explosion. . . ." W.Va. Code §29-3-5. The statute also provides that "the formation of any new fire department, including volunteer fire departments, requires the concurrence of the State Fire Commission. The State Fire Commission shall develop a method of certification which can be applied to all fire departments and volunteer fire departments." W.Va. Code §29-3-9(e). (Emphasis added). This section specifically provides that only new fire departments must get approval. The statute itself does not delineate any specific criteria for recognition or approval by the State Fire Commission nor does it outline requirements for fire commission certification/recognition. Indeed, it places the burden

upon the Commission to enact regulations in order to develop a standardized method to be used when considering an application for approval of a new fire departments. The hundreds of existing fire departments in the state when the commission was created, including the appellant departments, were essentially grandfathered in and did not need to go through a "approval" process.

Additionally, the State Fire Commission has promulgated regulations as authorized to do under the Fire Prevention and Control Act. See, W.Va. Code ST.R.T. §87-1-1, et seq. Again, the regulations do not provide criteria for certifying or recognizing a volunteer or other fire company. Finally, the State Fire Marshall's office has propounded a list of fire department requirements for State Fire Commission recognition/approval. (See, Brief in Support of Petitioners' Appeal, Exhibit A). The requirements are posted on the State Fire Commission's website, but are not codified anywhere in the statutes or regulations but are apparently used by the fire commission in order to recognize a fire department.⁷

A reading of the Act as a whole, suggests that the Commission was created in order to help organize and unify the training and standards used by fire departments. Noting in the statute or regulations suggests that the Commission would be given power or authority to decide beyond these minimum requirements how any particular municipality should decide to staff or organize its fire departments. Indeed, these powers are clearly granted

⁷The appellants question whether this list has any force or effect at all because it is not codified as a regulation.

to the governing body of each municipality by W.Va. Code 8-15-1 et. seq. The legislature did nothing to disturb or change this plenary power granted to the governing municipality when it created the Act. Therefore, it seems clear that the Commission exceeded its authority in this case by acting to withdraw recognition of these departments without a legitimate basis for doing so.

Additionally, in this case, because the appellant departments existed prior to the enactment of the Fire Prevention and Control Act and the creation of the State Fire Commission, they were in that category of departments which were "grandfathered" into the requirements. Evidence was presented that these departments otherwise met the Fire Commission's thirteen requirements. Therefore, there was simply no authority for the fire commission to withdraw recognition of these departments. Additionally, if the State Fire Commission were given the authority to arbitrarily disband fire companies, it would usurp the plenary powers granted to local municipalities to provide for the prevention and extinguishment of fires. W.Va. Code § 8-15-1. Because the State Fire Commission only has the power to provide training and other criteria and because those criteria have not been developed, it was beyond the Commission's authority to withdraw appellants' recognition. For these reasons, this Honorable Court should reverse Judge Recht's ruling below.

II. EVEN IF THE STATE FIRE COMMISSION HAD THE AUTHORITY TO WITHDRAW APPELLANTS' RECOGNITION, THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE PETITIONERS' LACK OF A FIXED TERRITORY IN WHICH TO FIGHT FIRES, WAS AN APPROPRIATE BASIS FOR SUCH WITHDRAW.

Judge Recht held that the appellants' lack of a fixed territory was an appropriate basis for the Fire Commission to withdraw their recognition. Appellants believe for the reasons that follow this was in error.

Assuming that this Court finds that the State Fire Commission had the authority to withdraw the recognition of the appellants, the court below still erred in holding that the lack of a fixed territory in which the appellants could fight fires was an appropriate basis for withdrawing their certification. As mentioned above, the State Fire Commission has put together a list of requirements for a fire department to meet their standards for recognition or approval. (See, Brief in Support of Petitioners' Appeal, Exhibit A). Importantly, there is nothing in this list which requires a specific fixed territory in order to have State Fire Commission recognition. Moreover, there is no requirement anywhere in the statutes or regulations, relevant to these matters, which requires a fire department to have its own fixed territory of operation in order to be recognized by the state fire commission. To the contrary, the Fire Prevention and Control Act provides that it is the duty of the State Fire Commission to establish fire protection areas. In that regard, the statute reads as follows "the State Fire Commission shall establish fire protection areas and at such times as funds

are available shall establish field offices for inspection, planning and certification." W.Va. Code §29-3-9(g).

Because it is a statutory obligation for the State Fire Commission to establish fire protection areas for its fire departments, it is unreasonable and arbitrary to allow the lack of such territory to be a criteria for withdrawal of recognition of a department. If it were allowed, it would allow the State Fire Commission at a whim, even though a department otherwise meets all criteria to simply redraw the fire maps to eliminate a fire department. Indeed, it is appellants' belief that many areas in West Virginia are without approved maps, but have not had their departments' recognition withdrawn. The commission should not be allowed to try to delegate its statutorily created duty to an individual fire department only to then use it against it when it is not accomplished.

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