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

## ARGUMENT

- A. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that the State Fire Commission had the authority to withdraw recognition of the Appellants' companies.

The decision facing the West Virginia State Fire Commission was whether the Commission should continue to give recognition to the Appellants' companies as fire departments. The West Virginia Fire Prevention and Control Act, *West Virginia Code* §29-3-1 *et seq.*, makes it clear that the Commission's "recognition" or "certification" is an important requirement for local fire departments<sup>3</sup>, but the Act does not define those terms or how recognition may be given or denied. Though the Appellants have asserted that the Commission does not have authority to withdraw its own recognition, the Circuit Court determined that the Commission does have this authority.

The only statutory reference to the Commission's authority is set out in *W. Va. Code* §29-3-9(e), which states as follows:

"The formation of any new fire department, including volunteer fire departments, requires the concurrence of the state fire commission. The state fire commission shall develop a method of certification which can be applied to all fire departments and volunteer fire departments."

There are several implications that necessarily flow from these brief sentences. First, since new departments may only be formed with the Commission's concurrence, there is a presumed

---

<sup>3</sup> Local fire departments recognized by the Commission may request aid and assistance from the State Fire Marshal, *West Virginia Code* §29-3-12(b); receive emergency vehicle permits and display red, flashing lights on vehicles, *W. Va. Code* §17C-15-26(d); receive distributions from the State Treasurer, *West Virginia Code* §33-3-33; and are entitled to representation in county fire associations, *West Virginia Code* §7-17-4. Members of recognized local fire departments may be deputized by the State Fire Marshal, *W. Va. Code* §29-3-12(j), and may be authorized to issue citations for fire safety violations, *W. Va. Code* §29-3-12(n).

recognition or approval of those departments that existed at the time of the passage of the Fire Prevention and Control Act in 1976. The second implication is that, since the Commission is to develop a method of certification to be applied to all departments, the Legislature did not intend that the presumption of acceptance would continue for eternity. The method of certification must apply to "all fire departments and volunteer fire departments," which provision would necessarily include those already in existence.

This section grants an implied power to the Appellee to deny recognition if a local fire department does not satisfy the "method of certification" at some point after the Act's enactment. Common sense recognizes that, over time, conditions may change and, potentially, a fire company may even exist in the future. In such case, or in circumstances where a department ceases to be responsive or effective for public protection, the Commission should not be required to bestow its stamp of approval on a moribund organization. Such a requirement would completely undercut the utility of state recognition. In order to carry out the purposes behind the recognition requirement, the Commission must necessarily have the discretionary authority to deny or withdraw its own recognition of a local fire department.

The Circuit Court recognized this logic and ruled that the statutory language gave the State Fire Commission the implied authority to withdraw its recognition of local fire departments under certain circumstances.

- B. The Appellants' lack of a fixed territory to exercise their command authority and to conduct fire-fighting operations was a logical, valid basis to withdraw recognition of those volunteer fire companies.

Since the authority to withdraw recognition is necessary to promote the purposes for the recognition requirement, it is logical to look to those purposes to determine when recognition may be denied. As cited in footnote 3 herein, there are a number of circumstances where recognition is an express requirement. In this case, the Commission just considered the provisions of *W. Va. Code* §29-3A-1 *et seq.* This article grants extraordinary and exclusive powers to the fire chief or line officer of a local fire department. The first section grants authority to control fire-fighting activities at the scene, to give certain orders to the public, to inspect any building and to enter any building for the purpose of protecting life or property and eliminate fire emergencies. The article gives a fire department broad authority to do what is necessary to eliminate fire emergencies and identifies who will exercise that authority. It specifically authorizes a commanding officer to control and direct fire-fighting and fire control activities.

In the proceeding below, the Commission argued and the Circuit Court concurred, that only one officer may take charge at the scene of a fire. It would be impractical to have more than one chief directing the fire fighting activities at the scene. This is one of the reasons for the assignment of fire protection areas (also known as "run zones" or "first due areas") contemplated by *W. Va. Code* §29-3-9(g). Though other fire departments may respond and assist in fire emergencies, primary responsibility for the control of the fire fighting activities is assigned to the department within whose area the fire occurs.

The statute expressly conditions the exercise of such powers on the recognition of the State Fire Commission, "While any fire department *recognized or approved by the West Virginia state fire commission* is responding to, operating at or returning from a fire, fire hazard, service call or other emergency, . . . ." *W. Va. Code §29-3A-1* (emphasis added). The Circuit Court specifically found that "it is inherent and implicit within the provisions of Article 3A, Chapter 29, that the power provided therein can only be exercised by one, local authority with a territorial jurisdiction," Paragraph 5, Order of September 13, 2004. The lower court thus determined that if a company lacks its own area or jurisdiction in which to act, the State Fire Commission is not required to grant authority to a company that has no basis to exercise that authority.

It is important to note that the Appellants lost more than their command authority within a territorial jurisdiction. Due to the actions of the City of Weirton, the Appellants did not have permission to conduct any fire-fighting operations in the territory where they were located. The City of Weirton exercised its exclusive power to dictate how fire service would be provided in the City's territory and thereby terminated the Appellants' activities in that jurisdiction.

Under the provisions of *W. Va. Code §8-15-1*, the City of Weirton had the statutory authority to do so.

"The governing body of every municipality shall have plenary power and authority to provide for the prevention and extinguishment of fires, and, for this purpose, it may, among other things, regulate how buildings shall be constructed, procure proper engines and implements, *provide for the organization, equipment and government of volunteer fire companies* or of a paid fire department, *prescribe the powers and duties of such companies* or department and of the several officers, . . ." (emphasis added.)

In the exercise of its plenary power to prescribe the powers and duties of volunteer fire companies within its jurisdiction, the City of Weirton could lawfully direct that the Appellants would not provide fire service within the city's territory.

Thus, the State Fire Commission was presented with a situation in which the Appellants had no jurisdiction to exercise their own authority and were barred from fighting fires within the jurisdiction where they were located. According to the facts then before the Commission, the Appellants were without a capability to provide significant fire service. Since the Appellants had no territory in which to act as a fire department, the Commission had no basis to recognize them to be fire departments. The lack of a territory in which to exercise fire-fighting authority and conduct fire-fighting operations was therefore a valid and logical basis for the Commission, acting within its discretion, to withdraw its recognition of the Appellants as local fire departments.

C. The State Fire Commission could lawfully require the Appellants to define and submit a proposed fire service area, accepted by other local jurisdictions.

When the State Fire Commission granted the Appellants additional time to locate another area over which they could exercise command authority and act as an independent fire department, the Commission required that the Appellants' proposal include a map indicating the territory in which the Appellants would provide their fire service as well as the territories of adjoining fire departments. The Commission indicated that all other affected fire departments or local government authorities would have to be in agreement with this assumption of territory.

The Appellants claim that the Commission did not have the right to impose this requirement, arguing that the Commission has the duty to assign fire protection areas and not the Appellants. This argument masks the real purpose of what was required of the Appellants.

It is true that the duty to establish fire protection areas rests with the Commission, pursuant to the provisions of W. Va. Code §29-3-9(g), but it is not unreasonable for the Commission to require a local fire department to propose boundaries for the area that the local department intends to serve. Just as a court has the responsibility to issue written orders of its decisions and yet still may require a party in the litigation to draft the order for the court's adoption, it is likewise reasonable and appropriate for the State Fire Commission to require fire department to submit a proposed fire protection area for the Commission's approval.

It was also reasonable and necessary for the Commission to require the consent and agreement of other authorities in the area. Due to the small size of Hancock County, it was unlikely that the Appellants would be able to define a service area or "run zone" that would not tread on the established territories of other fire departments. Also, if the Commission attempted to establish a territory for the Appellants by unilaterally taking away portions of other departments' territories, that action would be subject to challenge as an arbitrary and capricious act. Under these circumstances, it was reasonable and proper for the State Fire Commission to require the Appellants to work with their potential neighbors to propose a service area that would be acceptable to all.

D. The State Fire Commission only acted within the limits of its statutory authority.

In reviewing the issues in this case, it is important that this Court not confuse the respective powers of the State Fire Commission and the City of Weirton. In the proceedings below, there was mention of the "dissolution" of the Petitioners' companies. The State Fire Commission did not order that the Petitioners be "dissolved" or "disbanded" because the Commission does not have that authority.

The State Fire Commission does not have, and did not exercise, any power to dissolve or to prohibit the operation of the Petitioners as fire fighting companies. The only authority that the Commission did have in this instance was the power to grant or withdraw its recognition of these companies. Such recognition does carry with it certain rights and privileges, such as the use of special emergency vehicle permits, but the Commission did not take any action that prohibited the Appellants from continuing to exist as companies.

## CROSS-ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

### Introduction

The Circuit Court correctly determined that the State Fire Commission had the authority to withdraw its recognition of the Appellants and that ruling should be upheld. It is unfortunate, though, that the Circuit Court then went on to carve up the administrative decision and to reshape it in ways that the court had no authority to do. As a result of those actions, the Commission brings the following cross-assignments of error:

A. The Circuit Court exceeded its jurisdiction and legal authority in certification of the Appellants by “judicial fiat.”

Although the Circuit Court found that the State Fire Commission had the authority to withdraw official recognition of the Appellants, the Judge held that this withdrawal was limited. Under it, the Commission could only deny Appellants the authority to exercise the powers granted to local fire departments in Article 3A, Chapter 29. The Court specifically found the Appellants to be “certified by virtue of judicial fiat” for all other fire-fighting purposes, *see* Paragraph 8, Order of September 13, 2004. This ruling clearly exceeds the powers granted to circuit courts by the Administrative Procedures Act.

West Virginia Code §29A-5-4(g) provides:

“The court may affirm the order or decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. It shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or decision of the agency if the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, decision or order are:

- (1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or
- (2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or
- (3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or
- (4) Affected by other error of law; or
- (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.”

Under this statute, a circuit court may modify an agency’s ruling, but the court may not assume the functions of the agency for itself. In this case, the lower court did not merely reverse the agency;

the court issued its own certification of the Appellants. The Administrative Procedures Act does not give circuit courts the “fiat” to exercise the administrative functions of an agency in substitution of the agency’s own decision. The Circuit Court did not have the authority to certify or recognize a local fire department independently of the judgment of the State Fire Commission.

The Circuit Court could have reversed the decision of the State Fire Commission or remanded the case for additional determinations, but the court did not have the power to supercede the agency and become a “super-certifying” authority. It was therefore an error of the Circuit Court to issue certification or recognition to the Appellants, under color of judicial authority, that only the State Fire Commission had the power to grant. This action exceeded the judicial function of the court in violation of the Constitutional principal of separation of powers. For this reason, this portion of the lower court’s ruling must be overturned.

- B. The Circuit Court exceeded its jurisdiction and legal authority in ordering the State Fire Commission to provide the Appellants with the means to fight fires.

In addition to the ruling cited above, the Circuit Court ordered the State Fire Commission to “provide petitioners with the means to be in a position to fight fires when requested by a certified fire department,” Paragraph 11, Order of September 13, 2004. The Circuit Court based this requirement upon the erroneous conclusion that the Commission could only withdraw its recognition for a limited purpose. According to the court below, the Commission was required to recognize the Appellants for all other purposes. This position is flawed because there is no statutory provision for “limited recognition” or “partial grant of recognition.” The lower court’s requirement also places the Commission in an absurd position that may overstep the Commission’s lawful powers.

The general power of a circuit court to modify an administrative decision is restricted. Though a circuit court may “reverse, vacate or modify” the decision of an administrative agency, the circuit court may not modify the decision to impose a sanction or remedy that is not provided by statute or contemplated by the Legislature. *See Johnson v. Commissioner, Department of Motor Vehicles*, 178 W. Va. 675, 363 S.E.2d 752 (1987). In a judicial review proceeding, a circuit court may not make modifications to the administrative decision to compel acts that the agency could not have itself performed or ordered. In the circumstances of the current case, there is nothing in the *West Virginia Code* to allow the State Fire Commission to grant recognition of a local fire department for a limited purpose. The statutes, *W. Va. Code* §29-3-9(e) and §29-3A-1, only speak of certification or recognition without any qualification of those terms. There is, for example, no conditional language phrased as “recognized for the purposes of . . .” The State Fire Commission only had the power to grant or deny recognition and, by extension, this was all that the Circuit Court could have ordered.

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